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The present structure is, in actuality, two buildings. The west section was
built in the late 1890's and the east section was built in 1924. The west section
contains four levels and a basement; the east section contains three levels.

The facade unifies both buildings. It is done in the Commercial Style of the
early 1900's. It is characterized by a vertical rhythm of pilasters with arches
connecting the capitals. The rhythm is interrupted only at the joint of the two
buildings and in the spacing between the pilasters of the west section and the closer
spacing of the east section.

In the early 1950's, the first level was remodeled. It is now finished in
aluminum siding and large panes of glazing.

Details of the facade are in fair condition, which restoration can revive. The
cornice consists of terra cotta moldings and an inverted pyramidal design in brick.
Gargoyles of lion heads are placed at the apex of the pyramids. The terra cotta
arches are detailed with Roman ovulo of an egg and dart pattern. The arches on the
west section have a greater depth than those of the east section. The capitals contain
terra cotta molding trim of a triple acanthus leaf on the lower portion of the egg
and dart molding on the upper portion.

In 1924, part of the renovation scheme included the removal of the northwest
corner and replacing it with an angled section which extends the full height of the
building. In this section, the arch at the top of the pilasters is elliptical
rather than circular, as in all other arches. The rear of the building shows the
brick work as it was originally built. The only modifications are the brick sealing
of windows on the first level and in the area of the shaft of the freight elevator,
which was installed in 1950.

The interior is basically the original structure. The first and second floors
have undergone some renovation due to a fire in 1913. The central stairway was re-
moved and replaced by an elevator in 1912. The original elevator is still in operation.
The original structural elements are exposed in the basement and top floor levels.
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STATEMENT OF SIGNIFICANCE

The Bass Furniture Building is significant to both the architectural and

historic development of Atlanta.
build the east section and design the facade for the east and west sectionm.

Architect A. Ten Eyck Brown was commissioned to

It is

located in an area that, for a century, was considered the social and commercial
center for the city; its history and development reflect the growth and change of
the City of Atlanta.

In the area below Mitchell Street from Whitehall (Peachtree) to McDaniel Street,
between 1837-1864, small shopkeepers lived above their shops, saloons, boarding

houses, blacksmith shops, etc.
machine shops, wagon yard, churches and residences.
Mitchell Street served as both shop and residence for its owner in 1854.

This was a commercial center with grain dealers,
The original building on 146-150

When

Federal forces captured the city in 1864, this structure was one of those burned by
In 1871, the first free streetcar line ran down Mitchell Street to McPherson
Barracks, which provided opportunities for revived commercial development in this area.
This area, known as the 01d Term1na1 Dlstrict, was the city's chief retall shopping

area by 1880.

Sherman.

In 1883, Henry C. Sawtell purchased the property "known as house and lot on the
East side of Whitehall Street Number One Hundred and eighty" from the estate of John
On April 1, 1892, Sawtell sold the Mitchell Street tract to A. K. Hawkes.
Although there appears to have been a house and/or commercial building on the site

Broad.

when he bought it, Hawkes built the present structure in about 1898.

structure, Hawkes operated a feed and grain store.

In 1906, the store front was remodeled.

District caused damages in Hawkes'

store, which were repaired in 1909.

In this

The May 8, 1908, fire in the Terminal

About this

time, it housed a publishing company, a boarding house, a millinery shop and the
Apparently a dry goods store in

Southern Bell Telephone and Telegraph Warehouse.
1913, the extant structure suffered extensive fire damage that year.
central stairwell had been removed and an interior elevator installed.

In 1912, the
The building

was largely restored following the fire; the first and second floor levels were
completely rebuilt while the basement and top floor required only minor repairs.
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J. G. Sterchi purchased the property in the early part of 1919 and used the
building as one of a chain of furniture stores he had established. 1In 1924, Sterchi
Furniture Company commissioned A. Ten Eyck Brown to design a new structure adjacent
to the old one and remodel the old to give the new four-story structure a unified
facade. Brown had begun the practice of architecture in Atlanta in 1907 and had
designed the Edwin P. Ansley Realty Trust Company Building on Luckie and Forsyth
Streets (1910); the Fulton County Courthouse (1911); Atlanta's Arcade Building on
Peachtree and Broad Streets (1916); the Criterion Theater on Peachtree (1916); the
Federal Reserve Bank Building (1918); the Transportation (Western Union) Building on
Marietta Street (1919). In 1930, Brown was the architect of Atlanta City Hall and
in 1931 the Metropolitan Building.

Part of Brown's scheme was to alter the west corner of the building. He re-
moved the corner and created an angled entry which extends the full height of the
structure. The facade, as designed by Brown, exists very much as when he renovated

it.

On July 4, 1933, Phoenix Mutual Life Insurance bought the property at sale from
the estate of Sterchi, as Sterchi had defaulted on his payments since April 1, 1921.
M. B. Porter leased the building from Sterchi's estate in 1936 and purchased it on
June 13, 1940. On May 28, 1948, Porter sold the site to Bass Furniture Company. A
year and a half earlier, Porter had installed a sprinkler system on the interior of
the building as a measure to lower the insurance premium. In 1950, owner James W.
Witherspoon installed a freight elevator in the rear of the building. Between 1950-
1955, Witherspoon also applied store front aluminum and glass renovation to the
street level.

In the course of changing ownership, the building reflected the decline of this
once-prosperous area. With the beginning of the twentieth century, the viaducts -
covering the railroad tracks, and the skyscrapers such as the Hurt Building and the
Candler Building, drew retail merchants from the 0ld Terminal District into the area
about the five points area. The retail business had begun to decline by the 1930's
but commercial hotels serving the Terminal Station and Union Station dotted the area.
By the 1960's, both terminals had been demolished and the commercial decline, all too
evident, has continued to the present. An area of mixed racial structure and aban-
doned buildings, it is, nevertheless, extremely significant. The Bass Furniture
Company remains as one of the few nineteenth century structures in a city in need of
preserving its last vestige of such buildings.
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Verbal Boundary Description:

Beginning at a point on the southwest side of Mitchell Street, 87 feet southwest
from the intersection of the southwest side of Mitchell Street with the southeast
side of Peachtree Street, and extending southeast 102.6 feet; thence southwest

100 feet; thence northwest 34.8 feet; thence southwest 14 feet; thence northwest
50.7 feet; thence northeast 31.1 feet; thence northwest 25.2 feet; thence northeast
65 feet to the point of beginning.






